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INTERIM JUDGMENT OF HENRY, J. 

In this action the Plaintiffs seek to recover 

damages from the Defendants in respect of an agreement for sale 

and purchase of a video cassette recorder sates and hire 
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business carried on at Papakura. The agreement in question is 

dated 21 December 1984 and is between the Fiest Defendant as 

vendor and the First Plaintiffs as pucchasecs. Following 

settlement of the sale and purchase the Second Plaintiff was 

incorporated and took over the running of the business. The 

Second and Third Defendants are the shareholders in the Fiest 

Defendant 

The brief background is that the First 

Defendant (Papakura Video) was formed in 1983 foe the purpose 

of setting up a video business. The Second Defendant 

{Mr Darby) was the person primarily concerned, and he reached a 

decision that the best way to do this would be by setting up as 

a franchise holder in a network controlled by Video Station 

Limited. which operated through a number of licensed outlets 

throughout New Zealand. Premises at 113 Great South Road, 

Papakura. were leased. a franchise agreement with Video Station 

Limited entered into. and the business set up commencing 

opecation on 8 September 1983 under the name or style of "The 

Video Stat ion. Papakura 11 • The nature of the business 

consisted of the retail sale of video cassette recorders. 

television sets. and all associated items and equipment, and 

the hieing of pre-cecocded video cassettes. 

In 1984 Mc Darby decided he would place the 

business on the market for sale. and foe that purpose 

instructed a local Papakura teal estate agent, Mr Hunt, who was 

trading as John Franklin Hunt ~ssociates. 
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Mc Goodace and Mc Hecbison wece at that time looking foe a 

business to purchase. in pacticulac one with a good cash flow 

and which would show a pee-tax pcofit of about $1So.ooo.oo. 

They had in mind investing a total of about $300.000.00 in such 

a business. Mc Runt advised Mc Goodace that the Video 

Station. Papakuca. was foe sale. and pcovided him with what has 

been desccibed as a cesume of the business. Negotiations 

then commenced with both pacties having the assistance of theic 

cespective solicitocs. and eventually on 21 Decembec 1984 teems 

of agceement wece settled and the formal documentation 

completed. The agreement cecited a total purchase price of 

$34s.ooo.oo payable by way of a deposit of $3S.ooo.oo. the sum 

of $180.000.00 on settlement. and the balance of $130,000.00 

thcee months aftec settlement. to be secured by way of ficst 

debenture ovec the assets and undectaking of a company to be 

formed by the pucchasecs. Settlement was duly effected on 

s Febcuacy 198S. the Second Plaintiff (Paris Ventures) duly 

formed. and the security documents completed. 

Within a short time aftec taking over the 

business. Mc Goodace (who was the pecson pcimacily concerned 

with the business operations) became concerned as to the 

turnover figures the business was achieving. As a 

consequence. in April 198S a chattered accountant. Mc Collins, 

who had pceviously been instructed by the Plaintiffs to cepoct 

on financial aspects of the business before the agreement for 

sale and purchase was executed. was instructed to analyse the 

figures again in fucthec detail. 
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Following detailed investigations by Mc Goodace and the ceceipt 

by him of the fucthec cepoct fcom Mc Collins, the Plaintiffs' 

solicitors wcote to the Defendants' solicitocs on l May l98S 

alleging miscepcesentation. The pcesent pcoceedings wece 

then instituted on 13 May. and involved the seeking of an 

inteclocutocy injunction to cestcain Papakuca Video fcom 

exercising any eights undec the debenture. That application 

was heacd by Hillyec J. and resulted in the making of an ocder. 

on teems. on 12 June l98S the details of which ace not relevant 

foe present purposes. The business is still being opecated 

by ?acis Ventuces. although since the issue of these 

proceedings Mc Goodace has sold his shaceholding in the 

companies concerned with that opecation and he is now no longec 

actively engaged in the business. 

The Statement of Claim. as now amended, pleads 

fouc causes of action. Two of these ace based on sepacate 

allegations of pce-contcactual miscepcesentation incocpocated 

as expcess teems of the agreement. The thitd cause of action 

is based on a futthet pce-contcactual miscepcesentation but 

which was not included as an exptess teem. These three 

causes of action ace directed against all three defendants. 

The foucth cause of action is directed only against Mc Darby 

and is fcamed in negligence on his pact in making 

cepcesentations as to the tcading pecfocmance of ?apakuca 

Video. It is altecnative to the othec thcee causes of action. 

All causes of action, being concerned with the 

pee-contract negotiations and the teems and construction of the 
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contcact. can conveniently be considered against the same 

background. 

The business was a new one. which was set up 

by Mr Darby. and commenced opecations on or about 8 September 

1983 as a franchise holder fcom Video Station Limited. The 

franchise agreement required the business to purchase all its 

video equipment, whether foe retail sale or hire. from Video 

Station oc its nominated supplier. One of the major. indeed 

the most important, aspect of the business was the hieing of 

pre-recorded video cassettes. Mr Darby leased as well as 

purchased these tapes from Video Station. initially the numbers 

leased {some 62%) being far greater than the numbers 

purchased. Over the ensuing period of his operations this 

ratio was changed so that as at February 1985 in excess of 85% 

of the tapes were owned. The business also sold video 

cassette recorders and associated items. and to a small and 

probably insignificant extent television sets and associated 

equipment. All these items were referred to by the general 

term "hardware" as compared with the tape hieing side of the 

business which was refereed to, again by way of general 

description. as 11 softwace 11 • As is usual, the sale of more 

expensive items such as recorders was frequently on terms, 

those credit sales being on hire purchase with the agreements 

being discounted to a company known as Hillcrest Services 

Limited of which also Mc and Mes Darby were the shareholders. 

The business had some operational problems in 

the financial sense in its early stages. and the accounts toe 
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the peciod ended 31 Match 1984 show a net trading loss of 

$Sl,611.00. The bcief bceakdown of the trading account to 

that date shows total sales of $270,870.00. cost of sales 

$241.731.00. and a gcoss pcofit of $29,139.00. Fucthec 

cevenue from membecship fees {pecsons who hice tapes). 

insurance. waccanties and rental of tapes gave a total of 

$140,435.00 as against expenses of $192,046.00. Mc Darby, 

conscious of the pcoblem and obviously a meticulous person who 

kept a close and cegulac check on the financial performance and 

aspects of the business. took steps to coccect what he saw as 

the main pcoblems. These steps included, in pacticulac. a 

change of emphasis fcom leasing to owning tapes foe hire. 

stocking mace popular titles of cassettes foe hieing, 

cenegotiating arrangements foe purchase of cecocders to allow 

an increased mack-up, and increasing the hieing side of the 

business both genecally and in pcopoction to the sales hardwace 

side. 

Although the sale now in question did not come 

undec negotiation until December 1984, it seems that as early 

as May of that year Mc Darby was contemplating selling because 

on 15 May he signed an authority to sell in favouc of John 

Franklin Hunt Associates, with an asking pcice of $350,000.00 . 
. 

Nothing apparently eventuated at that time. and then in 

November 1984 Mc Hunt again had the business on his books for 

sale. 

Foe the purposes of sale. Mc Hunt pcepaced a 

document which became known as the cesume, which contains some 

seven typewritten pages. 
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It sets out the nature of the business. the mar~et secviced, 

the location. and otnet relevant information including some 

financial details and what is described as a sales history. 

Undec the last-mentioned heading the following details appear : 

11 S1\.LES HISTORY 

For 12.S months ending 30th September 1984: 

Video Cassette (Hardware) $280,423.00 

Membership Fees. 
Rite of Libcacy Films, etc .• 

(Software) $343,577.00 

$624,000.00 

Under the heading 11 Financial 11 reference is made to a 

balance sheet and income statement, noted as attached, 

which form part of the resume. The former is described 

as "Balance Sheet as at 30th September l984"and shows a 

pcofit fcom trading of $212,540.00, that figure being noted 

as including interest on borrowed capital as well as ZS% 

first year depreciation but not including shareholders' 

wages amounting to $S0,000.00. Tne second document is 

headed "Tcading for. the 12.S months ended 30th September. 

1984". lt ceads as follows 

"TRADING FOR 12.5 MONTHS ENDED 
30th SEPTEMBER 1984: 

INCOME •• 
LESS Cost of Sales 

GROSS PROFIT •• 

$624,000.00 
225,602.00 

$398.398.00 
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Caccied Forward ... 

Less EXPENSES .. 
Accountancy 
Advectising 
Alacm Monitocing 
Electricity 
General 
Insurance 
Management Fee 
Motor Vehicle Exps. 
Stationery & Postage 
Rates 
Telephone 
Wages to staff 

including wocking 
Shaceholdecs 

TOTAL EXPENSES .. 

NET PROFIT 

$LO00.00 
12.480.00 

648.00 
804.00 

1,300.00 
2,124.00 

lS.600.00 
4,200.00 
4.300.00 

15.000.00 
1,235.00 

79,716.00 

(before interest on borrowed capital 
and depreciation but after 
pcopcietors' wages of $50,000) .. 

PRICE: 

$398,398.00 

139.405.00 

$258,913.00 

Total Purchase Price is made up as 
Franchise Fees 

follows : 

Plant, Fixture & Fittings 
1,000 Movies 
Hacdwace Stock 
Reimbursement of Initial 

Formation and Promotional 
Costs. Goodwill. Key Money 
etc ... 

TOTAL PRICE: 

$ 30,000.00 
40,000.00 

140,000.00 
20,000.00 

155,000.00 

$385,000.00 

Following what were fairly intensive 

negotiations. final teems of the agreement were settled on 

21 December. The agreement as executed contains the 

following important special teem 

11 1. THE Vendor hereby waccants that the 
turnover exclusive to the business hereby agreed 
to be sold has averaged the sum of not less than 
$11.000 pee week foe the petiod fcom 8/9/83 to 
30/9/84. The Pucchasec acknowledges that he 
has inspected the assets and the following 
documents relating to the business : 

II 



(a) Schedule of Membecs 
{b) Monthly Analysis of Receipts 
{c) Hardware Records Book 
(d) Bank statements deposit books 

debtocs ledger dtaft set of accounts and 
any othet document furnished to the 
Pucchasec•s Accountant. 

The truth of the representation as to tucnovec 
is essential to the Pucchasec and he purchases 
the business in reliance upon such tucnovec 
figures. The Purchasec relies also on the 
accuracy of the documents refereed to in 
paragraphs {a) (b) (c) and (d) hereof the truth 
and accuracy of such representations all being 
essential to him. Otherwise the Purchaser 
enters into this agreement relying upon his own 
judgment and not on any representation oc 
warranty made by the Vendor except as expressed 
in this agreement PROVIDED THAT the Vendor in 
disclosing the information contained in the said 
documents is neither expressly oc impliedly 
giving a waccanty that the turnover of the 
business is in excess of $11#000 pee week." 

The schedule of members refers to the 

membership of the video library. being those who hire cassettes 

foe home viewing. A membership fee of $25.00 per annum was 

then currently in force. This schedule has no particular 

relevance to the proceedings. 

The monthly analysis of receipts refereed to 

is annexed to the agreement. and it shows a month by month 

analysis foe the months of September 1983 to September 1984 

inclusive under the following heads 

Receipts 
Received from 

Hillcrest Services 
Limited 

Cash Sales 
Hardware All Other 

The form of agreement as typed originally refereed in clause 

l (b} of the Special Teems to 11 a schedule of income on a 

monthly basis of video hire (cassettes). a copy of such 
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schedule being hereto annexed foe the purposes of 

identification 11 • 

refer to later:. 

The relevance of that provision l will 

It was however struck out and ceplaced by 

the item 11 monthly analysis of receipts". It is common 

ground that that analysis in its typed form did not appear 

probably until the day the agreement was executed and was 

appended to the agreement in the last stages of 

negotiation. 

The hardware cecocds book lists details of 

purchases and sales of video cassette recorders. ·The 

documents referred to in clause l {d) were not further 

identified. 

In addition to those documents# by letter also 

dated 21 December the Defendants' solicitors wrote to the 

Plaintiffs' solicitors in these teems : 

11 We attach a copy of our: clients tcial account 
for the period ending 30th September 1984. We 
confirm that this document is to be included as 
a teem of the Agreement for Sale and Pucchase 
executed between our respective clients as if it 
were a document listed under clause 1 of the 
Special Teems. It is agceed that all the 
pcovisions contained in clauses 1 and 11 
relating to warranties shall be applicable in 
respect of the information contained in this 
document." 

The reference to clause 11 relates to a deed of covenant 

whereby Mr and Mrs Darby undertook personal responsibility 

for the warranties in the agreement. The trial account 

refereed to in that letter is in exactly the same form as 

the trading account in the resume except that the words 
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11 trial account" have been added to the top of the document 

and the references to 11 Price 11 at the foot of the document 

have been deleted. It has the appearance of being a 

photocopy of the resume document with those two amendments. 

The Tcial Account 

The ficst cepcesentation incorporated into the 

express terms of the contract and relied upon by the 

Plaintiffs is that the details contained in the trial 

account were true and accucate. It is now common ground 

that these figures do not accurately record the historical 

trading figures of Papakura Video for the relevant period. 

Although the parties are not in agreement as to what those 

actual figures are, it is also common ground that both gross 

and net profit were very substantially less than the stated 

figure. Mr Collins calculated a net profit before 

interest on capital and depreciation of $83,510.00, and 

although no similar calculation was proffered on behalf of 

the Defendants. the accounts for Papakura Video foe the year 

ended 31 March 1985 (effectively to settlement on 

S Febcuary) seem to show a net pcofit of $63,963.00 after 

allowing foe intecest. 

The case for the Defendants and deposed to by 

Mr Darby is that the tcading account was presented to the 

purchasers as and known by them to be a reconstcuction by 

him of the actual accounts aftec having made a series of 
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adjustments to compensate for changes he had made and which 

wece effective as at November-December 1984. The tcial 

account. he said. was a reflection of what the business 

would have achieved had those changes been operative during 

the whole of the 12.S month peciod. Mr Dacby said he 

explained to both Mc Goodace and Mc Herbison he had. in what 

he teemed his 11 pcojection" increased the library income and 

decreased the revenue from sales. and explained that the 

expenses represented what should have been the figures if 

the business had cun without the earlier problems. He 

said both purchasers appeared readily to understand what he 

was telling them. The Plaintiffs deny having been given 

any such explanation and contend that at all times the 

document was put forward as an historical record of the 

trading of the business. Obviously credibility is 

critical. 

For the purchasers. Mc Goodare was the main 

negotiator and of the two he was the person who actively 

undertook the investigatory work leading up to the decision 

to purchase. He was focmecly a project manager for Green 

and Mccahill (Contractors) Limited with a background 

qualification in civil engineering. In July 1984 he 

commenced a business association with Mr Herbison, and after 

looking at the possibility of undertaking civil engineering 

contcacts they decid~d first to embark on a business venture 

with a high cashflow and good level of profit so as to build 

up the cash resources necessary to become involved in the 

type of commercial development projects they contemplated. 
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Mr Goodare first saw the real estate agent. Mr 

Hunt, in cespect of the Papakura Video Limited business and 

was provided by him with a copy of the resume I have 

previously mentioned. This showed a net return 

excluding interest on borrowed capital and excluding 

depreciation of $258,913.00 on a sale price of $385.000.00. 

An item in the resume which assumes importance is the 

breakdown of the turnover figure of $624,000.00 into the two 

general categories of hardware (or sales) at $280,423.00 

and software (or hieing) at $343.577.00. 

There followed a number of meetings, involving 

mainly Mr Goodare and Mr Darby, when the business and its 

financial aspects were discussed. It was at one of these 

meetings Mr Goodare says he was handed by Mr Darby a 

typewritten sheet headed "Monthly Sales (Library Only)''. 

The reference to library is to the hire of pre-recorded 

video cassettes. and the schedule proceeded to set out 

monthly figures for April to September 1984 inclusive. Mr 

Darby could not recall the document and said he had not 

prepared it in connection with this negotiaton and suggested 

it may have been prepared in January or February of 1984 as 

a projection for some purpose which he was now unable to 

recall. Mrs Darby confirmed that the document was 

probably typed by her, but could be no more specific about 

it. 

l think it an inescapable conclusion that 

Mr Goodare received the document in the circumstances to 



- 14 -

which he deposed. There can be no other logical 

explanation for it coming into his possession, and it must 

obviously be a reference to the returns for hire of video 

cassettes over the period April to September 1984. 

I conclude that it must also have been given to Mr Goodare 

as part of the financial information pertaining to the 

business. According to Mr Goodare he later asked Mr Darby 

for the figures for the full period of trading down to 30 

September, which he said were detailed to him by Mr Darby 

over the telephone and recorded by him on a sheet of 

notepaper. That record discloses a month by month figure 

for both what is noted as hardware and what is noted as 

rentals, covering the period September 1983 to 17 November 

1984. It also records what appear to be total figures in 

the following way: 

''$624,000 
280,423 
111,343 
231,743 

Membership 
Rentals '' 

Mr Darby denied that any such telephone conversation took 

place. and denied that he had ever given those monthly figures 

or totals to Mr Goodare. I have no hesitation in finding 

that the figures were provided by Mr Darby. It is 

significant fir.st, that the figures then given for April to 

September coincide exactly with those contained in the earlier 

typewritten document; second. the figure of 280,423 is the 

apparent total of the hardware details for Septe~bec to 

September (they actually total 280,428) and equates the 

hardware figure quoted in the resume; third, the $624,000 

equates the turnover figures in the resume; and fourth, the 
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total foe rentals and membership closely approximate the 

equivalent figuce in the cesume. I do not think thece is 

any possibility Mc Goodace obtained these twelve month figuces 

fcom anothec source. Thece is nothing in the evidence to 

indicate that Mc Runt would have had them, pcecise as they 

appeac to be, and even if he did his only soucce in tucn could 

have been Mc Dacby. I am thecefoce satisfied that the 

figures contained in this document were provided by Mc Dacby as 

pact of the business financial information. 

As pact of his own pceliminacy investigation. 

Mc Goodace prepaced two graphs fcom this infocmati~n. one 

depicting revenue fcom sales of hacdwace and one depicting 

revenue fcom hire of video cassettes. The latter gcaph was 

used to make a focwacd projection of likely revenue fcom 

hieing. showing on the calculation a figure of the ocdec of 

$30,000.00 pee month. Mc Goodace was not cross-examined on 

the pcepacation of these graphs noc on his stated purpose in 

pcepacing them. 

The next relevant step was for Mr Goodace to 

instruct a chartered accountant. Mc Collins. an employee of 

De Loitte Hoskins and Sells. to undertake a verification 

exercise of the financial recocds, in pacticulac the proportion 

of cassette hieing revenue to revenue fcom sale of hardware. 

The relevance of the pcopoctionate figures is 

that the hieing revenue represents the mace pcofitable part of 
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the business having a substantially less cost component 

involved compared with the sale of hardware which is dependent 

on mark-up and requires the purchase of expensive stock. 

Thece is hece a fucthec direct conflict of 

evidence as to what was provided to Mc Collins foe this 

pucpose. It is apparent that Mt Dacby is a meticulous 

methodical man who kept very detailed business cecords which he 

was constantly analysing and reviewing. I also found him to 

be very careful. and in general very precise. in giving his 

evidence, and that he displayed a vecy deep knowledge of the 

details of the business. The records which he had were 

full. well maintained. and included : 

Hardware (video cassette recorder) sales book 
containing full detals as to purchase and 
sale 

Bank deposit books 
Cheque butts properly filled in on a code system 
Code Index 
Till tapes 
Daily sales cecocd books 
Weekly summary of sales book 
Inward invoices filed alphabetically 
Bank statements 
Weekly returns to Video Station Limited. 

In his evidence, Mt Collins stated that he had 

requested from Mc Darby all relevant documentaton. in response 

to which he received bank deposit books. bank statementr. 

cheque butts. current cheque book, some cceditocs' invoices and 

debtors ledger cards. Mt Collins was assured, he said, that 

there were no other records available. Mt Darby, to the 

contrary. said that much more documentation was made available 

to Mr Collins. In his affidavit in the injunction 
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proceedings (which, as with othec affidavits filed in that 

connection formed pact of the evidence at trial) he refereed in 

particular to till tapes, the hacdwace cecocd book, and the 

Video Station Limited weekly returns. In his viva voce 

evidence Mc Dacby said that Mc Collins also had access to the 

daily sales records, the weekly summary sales book and the 

inward invoices from Video Station Limited, all of which was 

denied by Mc Collins. 

The answer to the disputed question of what 

documents Mc Collins had lies, t think, in looking at what he 

actually did by the way of analysis. his description of which 

was not challenged. From the deposit books he added the cash 

receipts foe the period September 1983 to March 1984, the bank 

statements not then being available. Foe the period April 

1984 to September 1984 bank statements in conjunction with the 

deposit books wece used to reconstruct sales and tucnovec. 

Having calculated a total turnover figure of $619,415.00, he 

then attempted a breakdown into hardware sales and hieing of 

software revenue. This was determined by allocating larger 

items of approximately $1,000.00 or mace to hardware sales. and 

adding to that the amount received from Hillcrest Services 

Limited foe discounting hice purchase agreements. This gave 

a total hardware figure of $315,775.00 and a figure by 

deduction of $303,640.00 foe hieing. 

tn his handwritten note making these 

calculations dated 19 December 1984 and obviously made at the 
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time, Mc Collins has cecocded 

"Tucnovec: Thece ace no focmal sales 
cecocds. Tucnovec was 
established by adding th cash 
ceceiptd foe th peciod fcom the 
deposit books foe the peciod 
Sept. '83 to Macch '84 and fcom 
the bank statements foe the 
peciod l\.pcil '84 to Sept. '84. 
Allowance was made foe 
unpcesented cheques cebanked. 

- Debtocs ate held on cacds and 
the balances at 30 Sept. '84 was 
added to the cash ceceipts to 
give an estimated tucnovet. 

Video Equipment Sales: 
Two thicds of these transactions 
ace on h.p. which ace discounted 
to Hillccest Secvices Ltd. 
These transactions plus cash 
sales obtained fcom the deposit 
books were used to estimate Video 
Equipment sales." 

It is not ccedible that Mc Collins would have 

caccied out that execcise in the way he did in an attempt to 

vecify sales figures oc tucnovec if he had access to the daily 

record book, the weekly summary and the Video Station 

returns. He denied ever having had those items when he 

caccied out his analysis. and I accept his evidence on that 

point. 

Mc Collins also went on to look at the 

elements of cost of sales and of net profit. He made a 

handwcitten copy of a net pcofit calculation being figures he 

said he obtained from Mc Darby. The details ace in fact 

identical to a typewritten schedule identified by Mr Darby as 

coming from his file and being one given by him to Mc Hunt. 
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That document is document no.21 of Exhibit land was headed 

"Tcading foe the peciod ended 30 Septembec 1984". It is 

obviously the soucce of the tcading account set out in the 

cesume, and like that shows income of $624,000.00 and cost of 

sales of $225,602.00. The net pcofit thece is shown as 

$212,540 compaced with the cesume figuce of $258,913.00, the 

diffecence being due to deletion of figuces foe depceciation, 

intecest, and an amendment to rnotoc vehicle expenses: it is 

also identical to that shown as the net pcofit in the balance 

sheet contained in the cesurne. In the coucse of his 

vecification execcise, Mc Collins asked foe stock cecocds foe 

conficrnation of cost of sales, and said that he was told by Mc 

Dacby that he did not have any but that the cost of sales was a 

standacd 75% of cetail sale pcice. Mc Collins applied that 

peccentage to his hacdwace sales figuce of $315,775.00 to give 

a cost of sales figuce of $236,832.00. This cornpaced 

favoucably with the tcading account figuce of $225,832.00. 

Mc Collins also caccied out an overview of expenses and was not 

able to find any significant variation fcorn the cesurne 

figuces. He thus felt able to conficrn a net pcofit of the 

ocdec of $212,540.00 aftec depceciation and intecest on capital. 

Mc Dacby contended that he had discussed the 

tcial account with Mc Collins at gceat length and how he had 

adjusted the sales and other figuces by cefecence to 

peccentages. Mc Collins was adamant that no such discussion 

took place between them. 
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Mc Goodace. Mc Herbison. theic solicitoc Mc Miller who was 

involved in the final negotiations, and Mc Collins all stated 

their belief and understanding that the trading account headed 

"trial account" in the final contractual documentation was a 

trading account in the true sense, namely an historical cecocd 

of actual performance. In pacticulac Mc Goodace, Mc Herbison 

and Mc Collins each deny ever having been told by Mc Darby 

anything at all which would indicate something to the 

contcacy. Mc Darby on the other hand says he made it quite 

clear to those three persons that it was his "projection" of 

what the business would have achieved had his changes as they 

were in force in November and December 1984 been operative ovec 

the full period in question. 

I found Mc Goodace to be a truthful and 

reliable witness who did not attempt to embellish his evidence. 

Mr Herbison, who played a comparatively minor role in the 

negotiations. also impressed as an honest witness. Mr Collins 

l had no reason to doubt on the general substance of his 

evidence. although perhaps a little uncertain on some details 

by the time of the hearing. The adequacy of his verification 

exercise in December 1982 is not in question and l make no 

comment upon it. Mr Miller was not challenged in his 

evidence and l have no hesitation in accepting what he had to 

say on the negotiations in which he was involved. 

Having given careful consideration to what I 
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believe ace all celevant mattecs, I cannot accept that Mc Dacby 

disclosed what he says is the tcue natuce of the tcading 

account, and I am satisfied that eight thcough until execution 

of the agceement it was held out as an histocical cecocd of the 

pecfocmance of the business. In conjunction with my 

assessment of the ccedibility of the witnesses involved, thece 

ace a numbec of factocs which have bcought me to this ficm 

conclusion. 

1. The execcise caccied out by Mc Collins can only be 

viewed as celating to histocical accounts. No 

adjustments oc amendments to actual figuces was evec 

made oc attempted by him. Yet the execcise celated 

dicectly to the "tcial" account. 

2. Had Mc Collins been awace the account was an adjusted oc 

ceconstcucted one, pacticulacly if based only on 

Novembec and Decembec 1984 pecfocmances, he would 

undoubtedly have taken othec steps and cepocted tac 

diffecently to Mc Goodare. In particulac he would 

have examined closely and ceported upon the basis for 

the adjustments. 

3. Mc Collins was not given the documents which would have 

alected him to the position. 

4. Mr Goodace would undoubtedly have sought fucthec 

accounting advice as to the appcopciateness of the basis 

upon which the tcading account had been prepaced. 
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s. The inclusion of the trial account as a warranted 

document wouli otherwise be meaningless. There is no 

benefit to a purchaser in receiving an assurance from a 

vendor of a business that the vendor has caccied out on 

an unstated basis a theoretical exercise as to trading 

of which the document is the result. 

6. The letter from the Defendants' solicitors enclosing 

the trial account, and the trial account itself. 

contain no hint that the account is other than 

historical. No reservations oc qualifications ace 

expressed and the basis of adjustment is completely 

absent. The use of the word ''tcial'' is in the 

circumstances of no ceal significance, its only 

indication being that the accounts ace not in theic 

final form. It does not, in context, connote they 

ace only experimental. and is quite consistent with 

their being historical. 

7. The cesume can only be read as detailing sales history. 

containing as it does a trading account and a balance 

sheet including in it the net profit from trading as 

would be expected in normal accounts. I am also 

satisfied that the breakdown into hardware and software 

in that document initiated from Mc Darby. 

B. The lack of any convincing explanation fcom Mc Dacby as 

to how his figures wece calculated. 
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1n his evidence-in-chief, Mr Darby said he had started with a 

total turnover figure of $718,775.00, made up of $222,624.00 

for library or video cassette hiring, $54,243.00 for interest 

charges on hire purchase agreements, and $441,908.00 being the 

sale price of all items actually sold. These sums he took as 

being the actual turnover figures for the period in question. 

For the library component of $222,624.00, Mr Darby said : 

"1 took that figure and increased it by 20%, coming 
to a library estimated income of $269,300. 1 should 
correct myself, sir, and say "approximately 20 per 
cent''. the reason l increased that library 
portion by 20% follows from where we were a short 
time ago regarding the improvement to the titles 
that had been made to the movie stock. The titles 
were showing an increase of usage of 340% and 
1 considered a 20% increase foe the purpose of my 
projection was being responsible and moderate." 

Two difficulties arise from that 

explanation. First, the selection of a 20% increase seems to 

have no basis at all. The increase relied upon as shown by 

his survey was as high as 340%, and no reason foe using 20% 

emerged. Indeed, later in his evidence Mr Darby expressed 

the view that the increase could have been "100%, 150% any 

figure we chose ... ''. The second difficulty is that the 

actual percentage increase is 20.96% - 20% would yield 

$267,148.00. Mc Darby spoke of rounding off to the nearest 

$100.00, but there is no calculation to which his adjusted 

figure can be related in that way. lt is not possible to 

adjust one figure by applying an "approximate percentage'' -

some definable arithmetical exercise must be carried out, and 

it was that which Mc Darby could not or would not explain. 
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Under questioning from the Bench he did say: 

"I have started with the figuce $269,200) and 
then decided, aftec having the figuce, I've 
decided foe my own benefit that the 
percentage increase was a ceaonable one. 
I didn't start with a percentage and then see 
what figuce it would come to". 

This I found not only confusing but 

inconsistent with his eacliec explanation. It was confusing 

because it indicated that the $269,300 figuce had no basis othc 

than an acbitcacy assessment made by Mc Dacby himself. It 

was inconsistent because he had eacliec said he had applied a 

peccentage figuce. My conclusion is that he has not even now 

disclosed the ceal basis of the ceconstcuction. 

The next step cefecced to was in celation to 

the total sales figuce of $441,908.00. 

he ceduced that figuce by 28% and said 

Mc Dacby stated that 

"The ceason I did this is because I calculated 
that had we not been laboucing undec the 
pcevious difficulties. ouc total sales would 
have been smallec in dollac teems because in 
many cases I found myself in the situation of 
holding stock that was not good stock to hold. 
and I would advectise it cheaply with 
give-aways with it, sometimes below cost. 
etceteca etceteca. and it would not have been 
realistic to make a pcojection with a sales 
figuce the same as it had been. because if one 
wasn't tcading with those difficulties one 
wouldn't have gone about cceating sales in 
these ways.• 

The logic behind that reasoning I found a little difficult to 

follow. A similac ceduction by 28% was made to the intecest 

charge of $54,243.00. that component being dicectly associated 

with hardware sales. The same two difficulties again 

acise. 
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A ceduction of 28% to his sales figure yields $318,175.00 and 

beacs no ceal celationship to Mc Dacby's figuce of $315,600.00 

which is a tcue ceduction of 28.58%. The intecest chacges 

of $54,243.00 if ceduced by 28% yields $39,0SS.OO, which is 

vecy close to the adjusted figuce of $39,100.00 and could 

possibly be a counding-off, but the actual percentage figure is 

not 28.58 as with the hardware. but 27.91. 

A fucthec explanation given by Mc Darby 

during cross-examination was that he had told Mc Goodace. Mc 

Herbison and Mc Collins that he had estimated a ceduction of 

30% and it was the later sucvey he had carried out which showed 

the figuce of approximately 28% as being correct. What is 

clear is that the adjusted figuces were not a 30% ceduction. as 

he says he advised those pecsons they were. not can they be 

made to fit any other base in a sensible way. 

Difficulties also arise in respect of the 

adjustment to the important component of cost of sales. 

According to Mc Dacby. the stacting point was the adjusted 

hardwace sales figuce of $315,600.00 to which he applied a 

gross mark-up figure of 28.5%, to yield $225,602.00. But 

that exercise gives an answer of $225,654.00 which on any 

rational basis is difficult to reconcile with $225,602.00 

Again the reason given for applying a reduction of "about 

28.S\" is less than convincing. Mr Darby celated it to the 

actual mark-up figures as analysed by him foe the months of 

November and December 1984. 
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However, the tcial account was completed in early December at 

the latest, when the actual trading figures foe that month 

would not have been known. Fucthec, Mc Dacby acknowledged at 

another stage of his evidence that the analysis of those sales 

and gcoss pcofit figures had been carried out about May 

1985. The basis for the adjustment as carried out in 

December 1984 could not have resulted from that exercise. and 

what it really was is therefore unclear. 

1n the course of his evidence Mc Darby did say 

that he had started off with what he called actual figures, and 

as he made a policy change he would change each figure to 

reflect the change he had made; and that this was a continuing 

process as various policy changes were introduced. l believe 

that the trial account, so called. is the December version of 

that continuing exercise, that it was constructed by Mr Darby 

having adjusted all actual revenue figures on a month by month 

basis. This, l believe. gave the totals for library and 

hardware as shown in the resume and as broken down in the 

figures telephoned to Mr Goodare and recorded by him. 

Mr Darby apparently no longer has the product of his continuing 

exercise, but if it were available l surmise that is what would 

be revealed. The precise nature of each adjustment in the 

series of adjustments is not now known. which is why no logical 

explanation for the final figures can be given. The same 

applies, I believe, to the cost of sales calculation. 

lt may be that in some ways Mc Darby justified 

to himself the validity of his approach to the sale of the 
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business. and that somehow he saw this as a tcue ceflection of 

its financial status at the time. Whatever be the truth or 

the reasoning behind it, I am left in no doubt that the trial 

account as included in the contractual documents is to be and 

was meant to be construed as an historical record, the truth 

and accuracy of which was expressly warranted and became a term 

of the contract. As I have said, it is common ground that 

as such the term was breached, and I so find. 

Monthly Analysis of Receipts: 

It is relevant to note how this document came 

into existence and formed pact of the contractual 

documentation, this again being in an area of dispute. 

According to Mr Darby, it was completed at the request of Mr 

Collins during his visit to the business premises on 

19 December, the request being foe a list of video cassette 

recocders sold foe cash and a list of payments made by 

Hillcrest Services Limited to Papakuca Video, with those two 

items being isolated from total receipts. Re also said that 

when he asked Mc Goodace foe a copy of the-monthly schedule of 

video cassette tape hieing cefecced to in the agceement as 

ociginally dcafted, it was not able to be found and that 

subsequently in a telephone convecsation Mc Goodace said it 

wasn't too impoctant, and cequested the monthly analysis 

pcepaced foe Mc Collins be put in instead. It was then typed 

up and taken to Mc Dacby's solicitoc on 21 Decembec. Mc 

Collins denied having made a request foe any such document. and 

I have difficulty in seeing why he would require it. 
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His exercise. as cecocded by him at the time, shows the total 

of the Hillcrest Services Limited payments and also details the 

video cassette cecocdec tapes figuce, so he would have had no 

need foe the analysis. Mc Goodace denied having requested 

the change and stated he did not see the monthly analysis until 

it had been included in the agreement at Mc Dacby's cequest, 

and then only immediately befoce execution. t find that the 

analysis was pcepaced by Mc Dacby at his own instigation and 

that it was his suggestion it should replace the monthly hice 

schedule ociginally cefecced to. The reason 1 infer was to 

avoid the disclosure of detailed hice figuces which would be 

mackedly diffecent fcom those in the resume and given to Mc 

Goodace vecbally, a fact which would have led to fucther 

enquicy and thcow doubt on the tcue extent of that impoctant 

side of the business. 

The impoctant question here is as 

to the meaning of the analysis in the context of the 

agreement. That is really the primacy issue undec this head 

of claim because the evidence establishes that the analysis 

does accurately record the total ceceipts of the business month 

by month, it accurately records the amounts received from 

Hillcrest Services Limited, and it also accucately cecocds, 

although marginally overstated, receipts foe cash (as opposed 

to credit) sales of hacdware. It follows that as a matter of 

arithmetic the final column of ceceipts from "All other" must 

also be accucate. The question of construction involves the 

meaning and intent of the columns headed "Cash sales hacdwace'' 

and "All other" respectively. 
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They are ambiguous - the former could refer either to cash 

received from hardware sales, oc as the Defendants' contend 

receipts from cash sales of hardware. The meaning to be 

adopted consequently affects the meaning of "l\.11 othet". 

Because of the ambiguity, it is permissible to have recourse to 

extrinsic evidence to resolve the matter. The relevant 

factual background to which t have regard foe that purpose is 

l. The nature of the business and the accepted breakdown 

of it into two main components, generally described as 

hardware and software. 

2. The division of turnover as shown in the resume was 

hardware of $279,423.00 and software of $343,577.00. 

3. The provision of monthly figures given to Mc Goodace, 

broken down specifically into rentals and hardware 

sales, showing a similar division. 

4. The way in which t have found the analysis came to be 

included in the written agreement, namely as a 

replacement for the monthly hire schedule. 

5. The importance of the relationship between software and 

hardware revenue. 

Viewed in that light, the analysis itself is to be construed as 

showing a general bceakdown as between hacdware and software. 
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with the hacdwace being fucthec divided so as to detail the 

discounting component. I have also reached the conclusion 

that that was the intention behind its compilation and that the 

effect conveyed and sought to be conveyed was that software 

accounted foe some $353.00.00 of receipts. and hacdwace foe 

some $306,000, giving the catio of approximately 53:47 in 

favouc of software. No breakdown of the "all othec• 

receipts was given in evidence and it is difficult to know just 

what those figures represent. What is cleac is that if it 

was intended to show software. as I hold it was, it must be 

inaccurate and misleading. The sales of libcacy, according 

to Mc Dacby, was $222,624.00 and according to Mc Collins 

$217,176.00. It is apparent that receipts foe the same 

period, although not necessarily equating sales, must have 

been substantially less than the $353,589.00 which is the total 

of the "all other• column of the analysis. In its form and 

in its context the monthly analysis of receipts was a 

misleading document. It was not true and accurate. There 

was therefore under this head of claim a breach of an express 

teem. 

The Monthly Hire Figures: 

This allegation relates to two matters, the 

first being a typewritten document (by Mes Darby) headed 

"Monthly Sales (Libcacy Only)'' and giving figures for April to 

September 1984, handed to Mc Goodace in the eacly negotiations. 
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The second is the schedule vecbally dictated by Mc Darby to 

Mc Goodace ovec the telephone which details monthly centals, 

monthly hacdwace sales, and theic totals, membecship totals and 

a gcand total. 

lam satisfied that the figuces wece pcovided 

as figuces of the actual tucnovec of the business. and as such 

wece false. Howevec, the detailed cepcesentation of the 

month by month figuces did not find its way into the wcitten 

agceement and must thecefoce be consideced on a diffecent basis 

fcom the othet two miscepcesentations eacliec discussed. 

l have eacliec cefecced to clause l of the 

special teems of the agceement. The impoctant pact of the 

clause foe the pucposes of this head of claim is the following. 

which occucs immediately aftec the cefecence to the celiance 

of the pucchasec on the tcuth and accuracy of the specified 

documents: 

"Othecwise the Purchaser entecs into this agceement 
relying upon his own judgment and not on any 
cepcesentation oc waccanty made by the Vendoc except as 
expcessed in this agreement.• 

If applied, that provision pcecludes the 

Plaintiffs from celying upon the pleaded miscepresentation. 

Reliance, howevec. is placed on s. 4 (1) of the Contractual 

Remedies Act 1979 which provides : 

"4. Statements during negotiations foe a contract -

(1) lf a contract. oc any other document, 
contains a provision purporting to 
pceclude a Couct fcom inquicing into oc 
determining the question -
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(a) Whethec a statement. pcomise oc 
undectaking was made oc given, 
eithec in wocds oc by conduct, in 
connection with oc in the coucse of 
negotiations leading to the making 
of the contract; or 

(b) Whether. if it was so made oc given. 
it constituted a representation or a 
teem of the contract; oc 

(c) Whether, if it was a cepceenation, 
it was relied on -

the Couct shall not, in any pcoceedings in 
relation to the contract, be precluded by that 
provision fcom inquicing into and detecmining 
any such question unless the Couct considers 
that it is faic and ceasonable that the 
pcovision should be conclusive between the 
pacties. having cegacd to all the ciccumstances 
of the case. including the subject-matter and 
value of the transaction. the cespective 
bargaining strengths of the patties. and the 
question whether any patty was ceptesented or 
advised by a solicitor at the time of the 
negotiations oc at any other relevant time." 

In deciding whethec it is faic and ceasonable 

that the disclaimec should be conclusive, the following 

factors ace to be taken into account : 

In favouc of conclusiveness: 

l. the tcansaction involved the sale of a business at the 

ceasonably substantial figuce of $385,000.00. 

2. there was no dispacity between the cespective 

bacgaining strengths of the pacties. 

3. both patties wece in ceceipt of competent legal advice 

at the time of critical negotiation 
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4. the precise wording of the special teems. included in 

which was the disclaimer. was the subject of detailed 

negotiation before being finalised 

5. the very schedule which comprises the mis­

representation was included as a warranted document in 

a draft of the agreement and was then delibecately and 

knowingly replaced by the monthly analysis of receipts 

6. both Mt Hecbison and Mt Goodace wece expecienced in 

business and had taken the pcecaution of employing 

specialist accounting assistance before agreeing to 

purchase. 

7. the disclaimec is not pact of a standacd focm of 

agceement but is contained in the body of a clause 

specially dcafted with pacticularity which carefully 

sets out the cepcesentations upon which the purchasers 

rely and expcessly excludes all othecs. 

Against conclusiveness: 

8. the pucchasecs in fact placed celiance on the accuracy 

of the monthly figuces 

9. the hice component as a proportion of turnover was an 

aspect important to the pucchasecs 

10. the monthly figuces beac a close relationship to 

matecial included in the contractual documents. 
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Looked at overall. l have reached the 

conclusion that the balance is weighted. quite strongly. in 

favour of the vendor and that in all the circumstances the 

provision should be given effect and be conclusive as 

between the patties. The result of this is that the 

misrepresentation is of no effect and cannot affocd the 

Plaintiffs a ground foe relief. 

Fourth cause of Action: 

Having cegacd to my findings under the 

first two causes of action this plea need not be considered 

further. the provisions of s .6 (1) (b) of the ConLractual 

Remedies Act 1979 precluding any eight to recovery of 

damages in negligence. 

Conclusion: 

In accordance with the order for directions 

as to trial earlier given. and in the light of the above 

findings which establish liability in favour of the 

Plaintiffs. the action will stand adjourned sine die foe a 

further hearing on the issues relating to damages. if that 

be necessary. Counsel should confer with the Senior Deputy 

Registrar as to the allocation of a suitable date. the 

question of priority requiring considecation. 

The countecclaim also stands adjourned sine die. 
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Solicitocs: 

Bell Gully Buddle Weit# AUCKLAND. for plaintiffs 
Kensington Wallace. AUCKLAND, foe defendants 
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